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United States District Court,
D. New Jersey.

BROADCOM CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
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QUALCOMM INCORPORATED, Defendant.
Civil Action No. 05-3350 (MLC).

Aug. 31, 2006.
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& Flexner, LLP., Short Hills, NJ, Steven John Kaiser,
Cleary, Gottleib, Stein & Hamilton, LLP, Washing-
ton, DC, for Plaintiff.

William J. O'Shaughnessy, McCarter & English, Es-
qs., Newark, NJ, for Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
COOPER, District Judge.

*1 The defendant, Qualcomm Incorporated
("Qualcomm"), moves pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure ("Rule") 12(b)(6) to dismiss the
amended complaint. The Court, for the reasons stated
herein, will grant the motion.

BACKGROUND
The plaintiff, Broadcom Corporation ("Broadcom"),
is a California corporation based in Irvine, California.
(Am. Compl., at 1.) Qualcomm is a Delaware corpor-
ation based in San Diego, California. (Id.) Broadcom
supplies semiconductors for wired and wireless
broadband communications. (Id. at 11.) Qualcomm
develops and implements digital wireless communic-
ations technologies. (Def. Br., at 6.) This dispute sur-
rounds Qualcomm's alleged "illegal and anti-
competitive conduct in the markets for the techno-
logy and chipsets that operate cell phones employing
Wideband Code Division Multiple Access
("WCDMA"), a third generation ("3G") technology

that is implemented through a mobile telephone
standard known as the Universal Mobile Telephone
System [UMTS]." (Am. Compl., at 1.)

Broadcom brought an action against Qualcomm on
July 1, 2005. It filed an amended complaint on
September 19, 2005. (Dkt. entry no. 14 .) Qualcomm
now moves to dismiss the amended complaint. The
Court has read the papers in support of and opposi-
tion to the motion, and heard oral argument on June
26, 2006.

I. Historical Facts

Cell phones contain multiple components that enable
users to send and receive phone calls and other data.
(Am. Compl., at 12.) A cell phone's "core ability to
communicate with the wireless system" is enabled by
one or more computer chipsets contained in the
phone. (Id.) Various companies manufacture such
chipsets, and the phones into which they are incor-
porated. To function properly, however, cell phones
and chipsets made by different manufacturers must
be capable of interfacing with each other. (Id . at 13.)
To ensure the interoperability of different cell
phones, the wireless industry works with several
standards development organizations ("SDOs") to de-
velop wireless communications standards. (Id.) The
standards that are established may be comprised of
patented technology. (Id. at 14.) An SDO may require
a patent-holder to agree to license the patent on fair,
reasonable, and non-discriminatory ("FRAND")
terms before it agrees to incorporate the patent into
the standard. (Id.) This requirement is designed to
prevent a patent-holder from acquiring an unfair ad-
vantage when a patent is incorporated into the stand-
ard.

Cell phone technology has developed through several
generations. (Id. at 15.) The first generation ("1G") of
cell phones were based on analog technology. (Id.)
The second generation ("2G") is based on digital
technology. The primary 2G standard technologies
are (1) Global System for Mobility ("GSM") and (2)
Code Division Multiple Access ("CDMA"). (Id.)
These two technologies are incompatible. (Id.) Carri-
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ers such as Cingular Wireless and T-Mobile use
GSM, while Verizon Wireless and Sprint use CDMA.
(Id.)

*2 Qualcomm holds more than 1,400 patents related
to CDMA technology and components. (Id. at 21.)
Many of the patents are essential for CDMA systems
and chipsets. (Id.) Broadcom asserts that (1) Qual-
comm used its power over CDMA technology to ob-
tain and protect monopoly power in the CDMA chip-
set markets, and (2) this monopoly is due to exclu-
sionary and anticompetitive conduct, and not busi-
ness acumen. (Id. at 21-23.) For example, Broadcom
alleges that Qualcomm (1) has threatened cell phone
manufacturers with the loss of certain benefits if they
purchase chipsets from a Qualcomm competitor, (2)
reduces royalty rates when a company obtaining a
patent license from Qualcomm agrees to purchase
Qualcomm chipsets exclusively, and (3) has manipu-
lated the SDOs to ensure that the third generation
("3G") CDMA standard is in a form Qualcomm
prefers. (Id. at 24-26.) Broadcom asserts that Qual-
comm has used its power to raise prices and restrict
output. (Id. at 23.)

II. The Third Generation of Cell Phone Techno-
logy

Companies are developing wireless technologies. (Id.
at 16.) The 3G CDMA technology is known as
CDMA2000-1xEVDO ("3G CDMA"). (Id.) The 3G
GSM technology is WCDMA implemented through
the UMTS standard. CDMA-based systems and
WCDMA-based systems are neither compatible, nor
interchangeable. (Id. at 3.) To transition from CDMA
to UMTS, or GSM to 3G CDMA would be costly.
(Id. at 3.) Wireless service carriers operating CDMA-
based networks, therefore, will transition to 3G
CDMA technology, and carriers operating GSM-
based networks will transition to UMTS technology
through WCDMA. (Id.)

Qualcomm holds patents for WCDMA technology
that are essential to the UMTS standard. (Id. at 2.)
Broadcom asserts that the relevant SDO only adopted
the UMTS standard after Qualcomm agreed to li-
cense its WCDMA technology on FRAND terms.
(Id.) Broadcom has developed UMTS chipsets that

would compete with the UMTS chipsets manufac-
tured by Qualcomm. (Id.) But Qualcomm controls the
rights to the patents necessary for Broadcom to man-
ufacture UMTS chipsets. Broadcom sought a license
from Qualcomm for the use of the patents essential to
WCDMA technology and the UMTS standard. (Id. at
29 .) Broadcom asserts that Qualcomm has refused to
license the patents on FRAND terms, in violation of
its commitment to the SDO. (Id. at 4, 29.) It alleges
that Qualcomm has used unlawful and discriminatory
licensing practices to (1) undermine competition, (2)
monopolize the WCDMA technology market, and (3)
attempt to monopolize the market for UMTS chip-
sets. (Id. at 4, 27.)

III. Qualcomm's Alleged Anticompetitive Conduct

Broadcom asserts that Qualcomm is engaging in the
same type of anticompetitive conduct that it used to
monopolize the CDMA technology and chipset mar-
ket to monopolize the UMTS market. (Id. at 2.) The
amended complaint contains many allegations of an-
ticompetitive conduct on the part of Qualcomm. The
alleged conduct, however, can be summarized and
grouped into three categories; Qualcomm's acts of (1)
refusing to license its WCDMA technology on
FRAND terms, (2) tying the sale of its UMTS chip-
sets to the license for its WCDMA patents, and (3)
offering discounts and inducements to buyers agree-
ing not to use the chipsets of a Qualcomm competit-
or. (Id. at 5-8, 30-36.) [FN1] Examples of Qual-
comm's alleged refusal to license its patents on
FRAND terms include its demands for (1) royalties
on unpatented components, (2) non-reciprocal patent
rights, (3) double-royalties, (4) excessive royalty
rates, and (5) anticompetitive information exchanges,
from potential UMTS licensees. (Id. at 30-34.) As to
the alleged tying arrangement, Broadcom alleges that
Qualcomm requires WCDMA licensees to pay multi-
million dollar licensing fees unless they agree to pur-
chase Qualcomm chipsets exclusively. (Id. at 35.)
Similar to the alleged tying arrangement, Broadcom
asserts that Qualcomm offers discounts, marketing
incentives, and other rewards conditioned on the use
of only Qualcomm chipsets. (Id. at 36.) The incent-
ives (1) "can amount to tens of millions of dollars,"
(2) "substantially raise[ ] competitors' costs of selling
and marketing UMTS chipsets, and (3) "strongly dis-
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courage[ ] chipset buyers from dealing with Qual-
comm's competitors." (Id. at 36-37.)

FN1. Broadcom also alleges that Qual-
comm's acquisition of Flarion Technologies
("Flarion") will substantially lessen competi-
tion and extend Qualcomm's monopoly.
(Am. Compl., at 8, 38.) The Court will dis-
cuss the facts and claims related to the Flari-
on acquisition separately, infra. See DIS-
CUSSION II.C.

IV. The Amended Complaint

*3 The amended complaint asserts thirteen causes of
action against Qualcomm based on the three categor-
ies of conduct discussed supra. The first eight claims
are federal antitrust claims based on the Sherman An-
titrust Act ("Sherman Act), and the Clayton Act. The
remaining claims assert various state and common
law causes of action. The federal claims can be di-
vided into three categories. Counts 1, 2, and 7 assert
violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act including
(1) monopolization of the WCDMA technology mar-
kets, (2) attempted monopolization of the UMTS
chipset market, and (3) maintenance of a monopoly
in the market for 3G CDMA technology and 3G
CDMA chipsets. (Id. at 45-47, 51.) Counts 3 through
6 assert violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act
and Section 3 of the Clayton Act, specifically that
Qualcomm engaged in exclusive dealing and unlaw-
fully tied the sale of its UMTS chipsets to licenses for
its WCDMA technology. (Id. at 47-51.) Count 8 al-
leges that Qualcomm's acquisition, holding, and use
of Flarion violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act. (Id.
at 52.)

The state and common law claims assert causes of ac-
tion for (1) violation of the New Jersey Antitrust Act
and other unfair competition and trade practices laws,
(2) tortious interference with prospective economic
advantage, (3) breach of contract, (4) promissory es-
toppel, and (5) fraud. (Id. at 52-57.)

DISCUSSION
Qualcomm argues that the amended complaint should
be dismissed for failure to state claims upon which
relief can be granted because (1) its alleged "mono-

poly power" is derived from the rights that accom-
pany lawfully-obtained patents, (2) Broadcom has not
suffered an antitrust injury in the UMTS chipset mar-
ket, (3) there is no dangerous probability that Qual-
comm will succeed in monopolizing the UMTS chip-
set market, (4) Broadcom does not allege that Qual-
comm's "exclusive dealing" forecloses a substantial
share of the market, (5) Qualcomm does not refuse to
license its WCDMA technology without the purchase
of Qualcomm UMTS chipsets, (6) Broadcom does
not have standing to bring claims related to the 3G
CDMA market or to challenge the Flarion acquisi-
tion, and (7) Broadcom has not sufficiently pled its
state and common law claims. (Def. Br., at 11, 23,
26, 33, 34, 37.)

Broadcom argues it has pled claims upon which relief
can be granted because (1) Qualcomm willfully ac-
quired monopoly power by inducing the SDO to ad-
opt a standard that incorporated its patents and prom-
ising to license its patents on FRAND terms, (2) it
has alleged that Qualcomm is using its monopoly
power in the WCDMA technology market to drive
competitors out of the UMTS chipset market, (3)
Qualcomm's provision of discounts and incentives to
patent licensees agreeing to buy Qualcomm UMTS
chipsets constitutes unlawful tying and exclusive
dealing, (4) it has standing to challenge Qualcomm's
conduct in the 3G CDMA market and its acquisition
of Flarion, and (5) its state and common law claims
are well-pled. (Pl. Br., at 11, 19, 27, 34, 38, 41.)

I. Motion to Dismiss Standard

*4 A complaint may be dismissed for "failure to state
a claim upon which relief can be granted."
Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6). The Court must accept as true
all of the factual allegations in the complaint, and
draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the
plaintiff. Doe v. Delie, 257 F.3d 309, 313 (3d
Cir.2001). "Dismissal of claims under Rule 12(b)(6)
is appropriate only if it appears beyond doubt that the
plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of [the]
claim upon which relief may be granted." Jakomas v.
McFalls, 229 F.Supp.2d 412, 419 (W.D.Pa.2002).

The Court liberally construes antitrust complaints.
Commonwealth v. Zimmerman, 836 F.2d 173, 179
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(3d Cir.1988). The Court views the complaint as a
whole and bases rulings "not upon the presence of
mere words but, rather, upon the presence of a factual
situation which is or is not justiciable." City of Pitts-
burgh v. W. Penn Power Co., 147 F.3d 256, 263 (3d
Cir.1998). Antitrust complaints, however, are not ex-
empt from the Federal Rules. Zimmerman, 836 F.2d
at 179. "A mere allegation that defendants violated
the antitrust laws as to a particular plaintiff and a
commodity no more complies with Rule 8 than an al-
legation that a defendant made an undescribed con-
tract with the plaintiff and breached it, or that a de-
fendant owns a car and injured plaintiff by driving it
negligently." Id. The Court assumes that the plaintiff
can prove the facts alleged in the complaint, but does
not assume that the plaintiff can prove facts that are
not alleged, or that the defendants have violated the
antitrust laws in ways that have not been alleged. Id.
at 180. "It is one thing to set forth theories in a brief;
it is quite another to make proper allegations in a
complaint." Id. at 181. "When the requisite elements
are lacking, the costs of modern federal antitrust litig-
ation and the increasing caseload of the federal courts
counsel against sending the parties into discovery
when there is no reasonable likelihood that the
plaintiffs can construct a claim from the events re-
lated in the complaint." Id. at 182.

II. Analysis

A. Sherman Act Claims--Counts 1, 2, and 7

Broadcom alleges that Qualcomm has (1) monopol-
ized the market for WCDMA technology, (2) attemp-
ted to monopolize the market for UMTS chipsets, and
(3) maintained a monopoly in the markets for 3G
CDMA technology and 3G CDMA chipsets, in viola-
tion of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. (Am. Compl.,
at 45-46, 51.)

1. Elements of the Claims

Section 2 of the Sherman Act provides that "[e]very
person who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopol-
ize, or combine or conspire with any other person or
persons, to monopolize any part of trade" is guilty of
an offense and subject to criminal penalties. 15
U.S.C. § 2. To violate Section 2, a defendant must

engage in illegal conduct "to foreclose competition,
gain a competitive advantage, or to destroy a compet-
itor." Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Technical Servs.,
Inc., 504 U.S. 451, 482-83 (1992). The offense of
monopoly has two elements; (1) the possession of
monopoly power in the relevant market, and (2) the
willful acquisition or maintenance of that power, as
distinguished from growth or development as a con-
sequence of a superior product, business acumen, or
historical accident. United States v. Grinnell, 384
U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966); SmithKline Corp. v. Eli
Lilly & Co., 575 F.2d 1056, 1062 (3d Cir.1978).

*5 Monopoly power requires something greater than
market power. United States v. Dentsply Int'l, Inc.,
399 F.3d 181, 187 (3d Cir .2005). Monopoly power is
the power to control prices or exclude competition.
Grinnell, 384 U.S. at 571; Intergraph Corp. v. Intel
Corp., 195 F.3d 1346, 1353 (Fed Cir.1999). The
mere possession of monopoly power and the charging
of monopoly prices is not unlawful. Verizon Com-
mc'ns Inc. v. Law Offices of Curtis v. Trinko, LLP,
540 U.S. 398, 408 (2004). The possession of mono-
poly power is unlawful when it is accompanied by
anticompetitive conduct. Id.; see also Kodak, 504
U.S. at 481 (noting that monopoly power under Sec-
tion 2 requires more than market power). Anticom-
petitive conduct is conduct whose purpose is to ac-
quire or preserve the power to control prices or ex-
clude competition. Id. "A monopolist willfully ac-
quires or maintains monopoly power when it com-
petes on some basis other than the merits. LePage's
Inc. v. 3M, 324 F.3d 141, 147 (3d Cir.2003).

A plaintiff, to support a claim for attempted mono-
polization, must show that the defendant (1) had a
specific intent to monopolize the relevant market, (2)
engaged in anticompetitive or exclusionary conduct,
and (3) possesses sufficient market power to come
dangerously close to success. Barr Labs., Inc. v. Ab-
bott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 112 (3d Cir.1992); see
Townshend v. Rockwell Int'l Corp., No. 99-0400,
2000 WL 433505, at *10 (N.D.Cal. March 28, 2000)
(noting a plaintiff must show a defendant's specific
intent to control prices or destroy competition in the
relevant market). Specific intent requires more than
an intention to prevail over rivals or improve market
position. Pa. Dental Ass'n v. Med. Serv. Ass'n of Pa.,
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745 F.2d 248, 260 (3d Cir.1984). A dangerous prob-
ability of success may exist when a company has a
significant market share at the time that it engages in
the alleged anticompetitive conduct. Barr Labs., Inc.,
978 F.2d at 112. Other factors that are relevant to the
probability of success are the strength of the competi-
tion, probable development of the industry, barriers
to entry, the nature of the anticompetitive conduct,
and the elasticity of consumer demand. Id. It is not
necessary for the plaintiff to show that the defendant
succeeded in the attempt to monopolize to maintain a
claim for attempted monopolization. Lorain Journal
Co. v. United States, 342 U.S. 143, 153 (1951).

2. Patents, SDOs, and the Antitrust Laws

To state a claim for monopolization or attempted
monopolization Broadcom must allege, inter alia,
that Qualcomm engaged in exclusionary or anticom-
petitive conduct. Count 1 alleges that Qualcomm's
anticompetitive conduct as to the monopolization of
the WCDMA technology includes (1) inducing the
relevant SDO to adopt a 3G standard that incorpor-
ates Qualcomm's patents by promising to license the
patents on FRAND terms, and (2) refusing to honor
that promise. (Am. Compl., at 45.) As to Count 2, the
attempted monopolization of the UMTS chipsets,
Broadcom alleges Qualcomm (1) refuses to honor its
FRAND licensing commitment, (2) refuses to
provide Broadcom a license on FRAND terms, and
(3) provides various discounts and incentives to
Qualcomm patent licensees who also purchase Qual-
comm chipsets. (Id. at 46.) Count 7 alleges that "[b]y
acts, practices, and conduct described above [in the
amended complaint] Qualcomm is unlawfully main-
taining its monopoly in the 3G CDMA technology
markets and 3G CDMA chipset market." (Id. at 51 .)

*6 Whether Qualcomm's conduct is anticompetitive
and contrary to the antitrust laws depends on the con-
text of the situation. LePage's Inc., 324 F.3d at 152.
The Court, considering the facts alleged here, finds
that Qualcomm's alleged conduct does not support
claims for monopolization or attempted monopoliza-
tion. "The Sherman Act was designed to prohibit sig-
nificant restraints of trade rather than to proscribe all
unseemly business practices." Tunis Bros. Co. Inc. v.
Ford Motor Co., 952 F.2d 715, 728 (3d Cir.1992)

(internal quotes and cite omitted). The Court has
evaluated the nature of Qualcomm's conduct with an
awareness of (1) the rights Qualcomm possesses as a
competitor, (2) the relationship between patent law
and antitrust law, and the role and purpose of SDOs.
See Verizon, 540 U.S. at 412 ("Antitrust analysis
must always be attuned to the particular structure and
circumstances of the industry at issue").

Qualcomm's anticompetitive conduct, as alleged by
Broadcom, has taken various forms. Considered as a
whole, the basic allegation is that Qualcomm's con-
duct amounts to a refusal to deal fairly in the
WCDMA technology market, which affects the
UMTS chipset market and CDMA markets. But the
Sherman Act "does not restrict the long recognized
right of trader or manufacturer engaged in an entirely
private business, freely to exercise his own independ-
ent discretion as to parties with whom he will deal;
and, of course, he may announce in advance the cir-
cumstances under which he will refuse to sell."
United States v. Colgate, 250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919);
see Intergraph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1357 ("antitrust
laws do not compel a company to do business with
anyone-customer, supplier, or competitor"). The right
to refuse to deal with other companies, however, is
not unqualified, and under certain circumstances can
be considered anticompetitive conduct. Verizon, 540
U.S. at 408; see, e.g., Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen
Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 585 (1985)
(determining that ski facility's refusal to participate in
a multi-day lift ticket offer with other ski facilities vi-
olated Section 2 of the Sherman Act). But the Su-
preme Court has "been very cautious in recognizing
such exceptions [to the right to refuse to deal], be-
cause of the uncertain virtue of forced sharing and the
difficulty of identifying and remedying anticompetit-
ive conduct by a single firm." Verizon, 540 U.S. at
408.

In Verizon, the Court (1) affirmed the dismissal of the
complaint, and (2) declined to recognize a cause of
action under Section 2 based on Verizon's deficient
assistance to its rivals. Id. Verizon provided local
telephone service to customers in New York. Follow-
ing regulatory changes designed to increase competi-
tion, Verizon took advantage of the opportunity to
enter the long distance telephone market. In order to
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do this, Verizon had to agree to provide other carriers
(its competitors) with access to certain elements of its
network, including operations support. A Verizon
competitor would send an order for service to Veri-
zon, Verizon would undertake steps to fill the order,
and send a confirmation to the competitor requesting
service. The plaintiff alleged that (1) Verizon filled
the orders for its own service before it filled its com-
petitors' orders for service, and (2) this was done to
discourage the competitors' customers from continu-
ing their patronage. Id. at 402-03.

*7 The Court determined that (1) Verizon's alleged
insufficient service to its rivals was not recognized as
an antitrust claim under the Court's refusal-to-deal
precedents, and (2) traditional antitrust principles did
not justify adding such conduct to the "few existing
exceptions from the proposition that there is no duty
to aid competitors." Id. at 410-11. The Court was
concerned that Verizon's alleged anticompetitive con-
duct was "beyond the practical ability of a judicial
tribunal to control." Id. at 414 (internal quotes and
cite omitted). "No court should impose a duty to deal
that it cannot explain or adequately and reasonably
supervise. The problem should be deemed irremedia
[ble] by antitrust law when compulsory access re-
quires the court to assume the day-to-day controls
characteristic of a regulatory agency." Id. at 415
(internal quotes and cite omitted) ("[a]n antitrust
court is unlikely to be an effective day-to-day enfor-
cer" of the terms and conditions upon which compan-
ies deal with one another).

This Court shares the Supreme Court's concern that
reviewing and supervising the terms upon which
Qualcomm licenses its patents, and offers to sell its
UMTS chipsets may be beyond the effective control
of the Court under the antitrust laws. See Verizon,
540 U.S. at 415-16 (noting that the Sherman Act
"does not give judges carte blanche to insist that a
monopolist alter its way of doing business whenever
some other approach might yield greater competi-
tion"); Intergraph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1364. The Court
will not sustain causes of action that seek oversight of
the business transactions of two competing compan-
ies. "An antitrust plaintiff must prove that challenged
conduct affected the prices, quantity or quality of
goods or services, not just his own welfare" Mathews

v. Lancaster Gen. Hosp., 87 F.3d 624, 641 (3d
Cir.1996). But Qualcomm's alleged conduct requires
additional scrutiny because, unlike Verizon's ser-
vices, the technology at issue is patented and essen-
tial to an industry standard.

The Patent Act provides patent-holders with the right
to refuse to license their patents to others. See 35
U.S.C. § 271(d). The antitrust laws do not negate this
right. In re Indep. Serv. Orgs., 203 F.3d 1322, 1325
(Fed Cir.2000). A patent alone does not confer mar-
ket power. Ill. Tool Works Inc. v. Indep. Ink, Inc .,
126 S.Ct. 1281, 1293 (2006); In re Indep, Serv.
Orgs., 203 F .3d at 1325. "The commercial advantage
gained by new technology and its statutory protection
by patent do not convert the possessor thereof into a
prohibited monopolist." Abbott Labs. v. Brennan, 952
F.2d 1346, 1354 (Fed.Cir.1991). A patentee has a
legal monopoly over an invention. Antitrust liability
cannot flow from conduct that is permissible under
the patent laws. Sheet Metal Duct v. Lindab, Inc., 55
U.S.P.Q.2d 1480, 1486-87 (E.D.Pa.2000); Hoffman-
La Roche, Inc. v. Genpharm, Inc., 50 F.Supp.2d 367,
378 (D.N.J.1999); see, e.g., Rockwell, No. 99-0400,
2000 WL 433505, at *8 ("patent owner's pursuit of
optimum royalty income is not an act in restraint of
trade which violates the antitrust laws"). Qualcomm,
therefore, does not violate the antitrust laws by
merely holding patents essential to the UMTS stand-
ard.

*8 "Intellectual property rights [however] do not con-
fer a privilege to violate the antitrust laws." In re In-
dep. Serv. Orgs., 203 F.3d at 1325. Due consideration
must be given to the "exclusivity that inheres in the
patent grant when determining whether a patentee has
monopolized or attempted to monopolize a market.
Abbott Labs., 952 F.2d at 1354-55.

Courts have not extended antitrust liability to unilat-
eral refusals to sell or license patents. In re Indep.
Serv. Orgs., 203 F.3d. at 1326 (manufacturer's refusal
to license or sell patented parts to independent ser-
vice providers that repaired the manufacturer's ma-
chines did not violate the antitrust laws). Here,
however, Broadcom alleges that Qualcomm promised
the SDO it would license its patents on FRAND
terms. The existence of SDOs in the cell phone in-
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dustry draws additional antitrust scrutiny to Qual-
comm's alleged conduct. Rambus Inc. v. Infineon
Tech. AG, 330 F.Supp.2d 679, 696 (E.D.Va.2004)
("[p]rivate standard-setting associations have tradi-
tionally been objects of antitrust scrutiny"). "Agree-
ment on a product standard is, after all, implicitly an
agreement not to manufacture, distribute, or purchase
certain types of products." Allied Tube & Conduit
Corp. v. Indian Head Inc., 486 U.S. 492, 500 (1988).
Standards and product uniformity, however, have
procompetitive advantages. Allied Tube, 486 U.S. at
501. SDOs are tolerated to promote such uniformity,
and to enable interoperability, but they also provide
the opportunity for anticompetitive activity. Rambus
Inc., 330 F.Supp.2d at 696. They afford an industry
participant acting either alone, or in concert with oth-
er participants, to exert influence over the rest of the
industry. Rambus, 330 F.Supp.2d at 696. It is alleged
that Qualcomm exerted such influence by refusing to
honor its FRAND promise. To obtain a license to
Qualcomm's patents Broadcom alleges that Qual-
comm demands excessive royalties, and links patent
licenses to the purchase of UMTS chipsets. Such
practices allegedly enabled Qualcomm to (1) acquire
a monopoly in the WCDMA technology market
(Count 1), (2) maintain a monopoly in the 3G CDMA
technology market and 3G CDMA chipset market
(Count 7), and (3) attempt to monopolize the UMTS
chipset market (Count 2).

3. Application

Broadcom's allegations fall short of asserting claims
pursuant to Section 2 of the Sherman Act. To main-
tain the claims, Qualcomm's conduct must be anti-
competitive. It must affect prices, quantity, or quality
of goods and services, not just Broadcom's own wel-
fare. Mathews, 87 F.3d at 641. The conduct must be
directed toward competitors and intended to injure
competition. See Intergraph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1353.
Reading the amended complaint in the light most fa-
vorable to Broadcom, the facts alleged do not raise
such inferences.

To maintain a claim against Qualcomm for monopol-
ization of the WCDMA technology market, either the
incorporation of Qualcomm's patents into the stand-
ard, or Qualcomm's alleged inducement of the SDO

and refusal to license its patents on FRAND terms,
must have injured competition in the WCDMA tech-
nology market. For the purposes of this motion, the
Court assumes that there is no competition in the
WCDMA technology market. This lack of injury to
competition, however, is not the result of Qual-
comm's conduct, it is the natural consequence of the
standard-setting process. As recognized in Allied
Tube, agreement on a product standard is an agree-
ment to manufacture a certain type of product, and
therefore not manufacture other products. See Allied
Tube, 486 U.S. at 500. It is, essentially, an agreement
to eliminate competition. The agreement promotes in-
teroperability, but at the expense of competition.

*9 Qualcomm has a legal monopoly over the techno-
logy claimed in its patents. The incorporation of
Qualcomm's WCDMA patents into the UMTS stand-
ard does not make Qualcomm an unlawful monopol-
ist in the WCDMA technology market. To conclude
otherwise would subject every firm with patents in-
corporated into an industry standard to antitrust liab-
ility, and eliminate the procompetitive benefits a
SDO is designed to facilitate. When an SDO decides
to incorporate one company's patented technology in-
to a standard, the company holding the incorporated
patents will be in a position to control that techno-
logy's distribution. Qualcomm's "power" to control
the licensing of its patents is derived from the rights
it enjoys as a patent-holder. The adoption of an in-
dustry standard neither diminishes nor augments this
exclusionary right. Townshend, No. 99-0400, 2000
WL 433505, at *12 ("[t]he adoption of an industry
standard ... does not confer any power to exclude that
exceeds the exclusionary power to which a patent
holder is [ ] entitled"). Qualcomm, therefore, stands
on the same footing as the other companies with pat-
ents incorporated in the WCDMA standard. [FN2]

FN2. "Other parties with patents that they
have declared as essential to implementing
WCDMA includ[e] Nokia, Ericcson, Inter-
Digital, and Samsung." (Am. Compl., at 33.)

The Court recognizes that Qualcomm's alleged "in-
ducement" of the SDO may be considered anticom-
petitive conduct in the sense that a false promise
biased the SDO in Qualcomm's favor, to the detri-
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ment of those patent-holders competing to have their
patents incorporated into the standard. [FN3] The
elimination of competition in the WCDMA techno-
logy market, however, would result regardless of how
the SDO decided which patents would comprise the
standard. While Qualcomm's behavior may have in-
fluenced how the SDO would eliminate competition,
it is the SDO's decision to set a standard for
WCDMA technology, not Qualcomm's "induce-
ment," that results in the absence of competing
WCDMA technologies. Qualcomm's alleged induce-
ment by false promise may give rise to a cause of ac-
tion based on another legal theory, but they do not
provide an antitrust cause of action. The terms upon
which Qualcomm chooses to license its patents since
their incorporation into the standard may be con-
sidered restrictive and unfair to companies, such as
Broadcom, desiring such licenses, but such terms
cannot eliminate competition in a technology market
that is devoid of competition by virtue of a standard.

FN3. Broadcom does not allege that it holds
patents that were competing to be included
in the WCDMA technology standard.
Broadcom, however, alleges that it needs a
license to Qualcomm's patents to manufac-
ture UMTS chipsets.

The conduct with respect to Count 2 also fails to al-
lege anticompetitive conduct sufficient to maintain a
claim for the attempted monopolization of the UMTS
chipset market. Broadcom characterizes Count 2 as
an allegation that Qualcomm is leveraging its power
in the WCDMA technology market to gain control of
the UMTS chipset market. (Tr. at 65, Pl. Br., at 23,
Am. Compl., at 2.) It alleges, inter alia, that Qual-
comm's refusal to license its patents on FRAND
terms, and provision of discounts and other incent-
ives to patent licensees purchasing Qualcomm chip-
sets, create a dangerous probability that Qualcomm
will succeed in monopolizing the UMTS chipset mar-
ket. (See Am. Compl., at 46.)

*10 The allegations and the amended complaint read
as whole do not support an inference that competition
in the UMTS chipset market is, or will be injured by
Qualcomm's licensing practices. Broadcom alleges
that it is unable to compete in the UMTS chipset mar-

ket because it has not obtained a license to Qual-
comm's essential patents. Qualcomm, however, has
not refused to license its patents to Broadcom. Broad-
com has refused the licensing terms proposed by
Qualcomm. Broadcom is only one potential competit-
or. "Others have apparently accepted the license that
Qualcomm imposed." (Pl. Br., at 23.) The amended
complaint does not indicate how competition in the
UMTS chipset market as a whole is being excluded.
It does not provide information on the composition or
dynamics of the market for UMTS chipsets to enable
the Court to infer that Qualcomm's conduct is anti-
competitive. For example, the amended complaint
does not indicate (1) the number of companies manu-
facturing and selling UMTS chipsets, (2) the relevant
market shares of those companies, (3) whether other
companies have been unable to obtain patent licenses
from Qualcomm, or (4) what companies have entered
or left the market. It states "various firms in the in-
dustry develop and manufacture these chipsets."
(Am. Compl., at 13.)

The amended complaint does allege that the UMTS
chipset market is experiencing rapid growth, and that
Qualcomm (1) has signed agreements with 26 cell
phone manufacturers, and (2) expects 77% sales
growth. (Am. Compl., at 37.) But these assertions do
not illustrate the degree of competition in the UMTS
chipset market, and how it will be or has been injured
by Qualcomm's licensing practices. The allegations
of anticompetitive injury are broad and non-specific.
For example, Broadcom alleges:

there is a dangerous probability that Qualcomm
will exclude Broadcom and others from the UMTS
chipset market and obtain monopoly power. This
conduct will harm competition in the UMTS chip-
set market.
As a cumulative consequence of this and Qual-
comm's other anticompetitive conduct, Qualcomm
has undermined the ability of independent UMTS
chipset manufacturers such as Broadcom to com-
pete against Qualcomm in the UMTS chipset mar-
ket.
This and Qualcomm's other conduct have under-
mined competition for UMTS chipsets.
The effect ... is to prevent competition to the detri-
ment of both would-be competitors such as Broad-
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com and consumers.
Qualcomm's royalty rate discrimination ... has the
effect of harming, competition in the UMTS chip-
set market.
Qualcomm has also foreclosed competition for
UMTS chipsets through the use of discounts, mar-
keting incentives, and other rewards.

(Id. at ¶¶ 21, 94, 98, 102, 105, 110.)

The absence of details as to the size of the UMTS
market, who participates in the UMTS market, and
Qualcomm's share of that market shows that (1) the
amended complaint lacks sufficient allegations of an-
ticompetitive conduct to sustain a claim for attempted
monopolization, and (2) Broadcom has not suffi-
ciently illustrated that Qualcomm has a dangerous
probability of succeeding in monopolizing the UMTS
market.

*11 The Court recognizes that Qualcomm, as holder
of patents essential to the UMTS standard, and
Broadcom as the entity seeking access to the patents
do not approach license negotiations as equals.
However, "the elements of Sherman Act violation do
not inhere in failed negotiations." Intergraph Corp.,
195 F.3d at 1361. "It is not the judicial role to read-
just the risks in high-stakes commercial dealings." Id.
at 1362. The Court recognizes that as alleged by
Broadcom, Qualcomm agreed to license its patents
on FRAND terms, and is now refusing to honor this
promise. While this "agreement" may give rise to li-
ability based on another theory such as breach of con-
tract, it does not give rise to antitrust liability. [FN4]
"The purpose of the [Sherman] Act is not to protect
businesses from the working of the market; it is to
protect the public from the failure of the market. The
law directs itself not against conduct which is com-
petitive, even severely so, but against conduct which
unfairly tends to destroy competition itself." Spec-
trum Sports Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 458
(1993) (emphasis in original).

FN4. Count 11 of the amended complaint
asserts a claim for breach of contract based
upon Qualcomm's conduct in dealing with
the SDO. For the reasons discussed infra,
the Court expresses no opinion as to the
merits of this claim.

Qualcomm's conduct may engender ill-will, but it
must have threatened injury to competition--not just
competitors--to give rise to antitrust liability for at-
tempted monopolization. See Brooke Group Ltd. v.
Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209,
225 (1993) (stating act of pure malice by one busi-
ness competitor against another does not, without
more, state a claim under the federal antitrust laws).
While the technology licensing terms offered by
Qualcomm may be restrictive and costly to Broad-
com, that the terms impose a burden on companies
wishing to compete with Qualcomm in the UMTS
chipset market does not make such conduct anticom-
petitive for purposes of the antitrust laws.

Count 7 also fails to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted. It alleges that Qualcomm has main-
tained a monopoly in the market for 3G CDMA chip-
sets and 3G CDMA technology. Unlawful mainten-
ance of a monopoly occurs when a defendant engages
in anticompetitive conduct that "reasonably appears
to be a significant contribution to maintaining mono-
poly power." Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 187. Exclusionary
practices are not sufficient. Id. Broadcom alleges that
Qualcomm has monopoly power in the markets for
3G CDMA technology markets because the 3G
CDMA standard cannot be practiced without licenses
to Qualcomm's patents. (Am. Compl., at 21, 23.) As
in the WCDMA technology market, Qualcomm's
possession of patents essential to 3G CDMA techno-
logy does not make it an unlawful monopolist in the
3G CDMA technology market. Similar to the
WCDMA technology market, there is no competition
in the 3G CDMA technology market because a stand-
ard has been set. Thus, Qualcomm's alleged conduct
is not anticompetitive for purposes of Section 2 of ths
Sherman Act. Qualcomm's ability to restrict access to
patented technology inheres in its patent rights. The
fact that the ability of other companies to compete in
the 3G CDMA chipset market depends on acquiring a
patent license from Qualcomm is a result of the pat-
ent system. Count 7, therefore, does not state a claim
for unlawful monopoly in the 3G CDMA technology
market.

*12 Broadcom also cannot demonstrate a claim for
maintaining a monopoly in the 3G CDMA chipset
market. The amended complaint does not sufficiently
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allege that Qualcomm's conduct has anticompetitive
effects in the market for 3G CDMA chipsets. Qual-
comm's alleged anticompetitive conduct in the 3G
CDMA chipset market includes (1) using its power
over the CDMA chipset supply to discipline custom-
ers and exclude competitors, (2) reducing royalties
when a licensee agrees to buy Qualcomm chipsets,
and (3) manipulating the SDO to ensure the 3G
standard takes a form Qualcomm prefers. (Am. Com-
pl., at 24-26.) That Qualcomm chipset supplies have
not kept pace with demand, however, injures the cell
phone manufacturers purchasing chipsets for use in
their phones. The chipset supply shortage does not
directly injure those seeking to compete with Qual-
comm in the manufacture and sale of UMTS chipsets.
Reducing royalties to those licensees purchasing
Qualcomm chipsets may entice and provide an in-
centive for licensees to purchase Qualcomm chipsets,
but such an incentive is not anticompetitive conduct
for purposes of the antitrust laws. Ensuring that the
3G standard takes a form Qualcomm prefers may
provide Qualcomm with a competitive advantage,
however, it alone does not indicate how other chipset
manufacturers are foreclosed from competing in the
market for 3G CDMA chipsets.

The Court also notes that similar to the deficiencies
in Count 2, there are not enough details as to the
composition of the 3G CDMA chipset market to con-
clude competition is injured. While the amended
complaint states that Qualcomm has shipped more
than 400 million chipsets, and sells approximately
90% of each CDMA chipset generation, those facts
alone do not indicate that Qualcomm is an unlawful
monopolist in that market. (Am. Compl., at 21.) The
amended complaint also states that several firms have
entered the 3G CDMA market, but have not
"achieved commercial success," and at least one firm
has exited. (Id. at 23.) While entry into, and an exit
from the market are relevant to a claim for monopol-
ization, such facts are not enough to conclude Qual-
comm's conduct is anticompetitive.

"The federal antitrust laws do not create a federal law
of unfair competition or purport to afford remedies
for all torts committed by or against persons engaged
in interstate commerce." Brooke Group Ltd., 509
U.S. at 225. The Supreme Court has cautioned

against
transform[ing] cases involving business behavior
that is improper for various reasons ... into treble-
damages antitrust cases. Although undoubtedly
judges would create a kinder and gentler world of
commerce, it is inappropriate to place the judicial
thumb on the scale of business disputes in order to
rebalance the risk from that assumed by the parties.

Intergraph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1364.

Similar to the Court in Verizon, this Court is asked to
determine whether the allegations of the amended
complaint (1) constitute conduct that is recognized as
anticompetitive, or (2) provide a basis, under tradi-
tional antitrust principles for recognizing a new type
of anticompetitive conduct. Verizon, 540 U.S. at
410-11. Considering the particular structure and cir-
cumstances of the cell phone industry, this Court de-
termines that Qualcomm's alleged conduct has not
been recognized as anticompetitive for purposes of
the Sherman Act. The Court declines the invitation to
acknowledge the alleged conduct as a new type of an-
ticompetitive conduct. "The cost of false positives
counsels against an undue expansion of § 2 liability."
Verizon, 540 U.S. at 414.

B. Tying and Exclusive Dealing--Counts 3, 4, 5,
and 6

*13 Counts 3 through 6 allege that Qualcomm has
engaged in exclusive dealing and tying. Broadcom al-
leges that "Qualcomm's refusal to offer discounts to
its excessive patent royalty rates or patent licensing
fees unless the purchaser also buys Qualcomm's
UMTS chipsets ... constitute[s] unlawful tying" in vi-
olation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section
3 of the Clayton Act. (Am. Compl., at 48, 50.) It also
alleges that "Qualcomm's agreements with cell phone
manufacturers--pursuant to which such companies
agree to purchase Qualcomm's UMTS chipsets only,
not to purchase competitors' chipsets or to do so only
on terms that materially disadvantage such products"
constitute unlawful exclusive dealing pursuant to
Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 3 of the
Clayton Act. (Id. at 47, 49.) Qualcomm seeks dis-
missal of all four counts.

1. Legal Standard
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i. Tying

Section 1 of the Sherman Act provides that "[e]very
contract, combination in the form of trust or other-
wise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce
among the several States ... is declared to be illegal."
15 U.S.C. § 1. "A tying arrangement is an agreement
by a party to sell one product but only on the condi-
tion that the buyer also purchases a different (or tied)
product, or at least agrees that he will not purchase
that product from any other supplier." Kodak, 504
U.S. at 461 (internal quotes and cites omitted). Tying
arrangements violate Section 1 of the Sherman Act if
(1) the seller has "appreciable economic power" in
the tying product market, and (2) the arrangement af-
fects a substantial volume of commerce in the tied
product market. Id. at 462. Tying arrangements may
also violate Section 3 of the Clayton Act. Section 3
provides that

[i]t shall be unlawful ... to make a lease or sale or
contract for sale of goods ... or other commodities
... on the condition, agreement, or understanding
that the lessee or purchaser thereof shall not use or
deal in the goods ... of a competitor ... where the ef-
fect ... may be to substantially lessen competition
or tend to create a monopoly in any line of com-
merce.

15 U.S.C. § 14; see Town Sound & Custom Tops, Inc.
v. Chrysler Motor Corp., 959 F.2d 468, 474 (3d
Cir.1992) (noting Section 3 of the Clayton Act tech-
nically covers exclusive dealing agreements, but that
Congress also intended it to cover tying arrange-
ments).

A plaintiff asserting a claim for an illegal tie-in must
establish that (1) the defendant's conduct was a tie-in;
"an agreement by a party to sell one product but only
on the condition that the buyer also purchase a differ-
ent (or tied) product," (2) the seller "has sufficient
economic power with respect to the tying product to
appreciably restrain free competition in the market
for the tied product," and (3) not an insubstantial
amount of commerce is affected. SmithKline Corp.,
575 F.2d at 1062. The agreement that forms the basis
of the tie-in need not be a formal agreement, but the
plaintiff must demonstrate in some way that there
was a tie-in, not merely the sale of two products by a
single seller. Id .; see Ungar v. Dunkin Donuts of

Am., 531 F.2d 1211, 1224 (3d Cir.1976) (same);
Robert's Waikiki U-Drive, Inc. v. Budget Rent-A-Car
Sys., Inc., 732 F.2d 1403, 1407 (9th Cir.1984)
("where the buyer is free to take either product by it-
self there is no tying problem even though the seller
may also offer the two items as a unit at a single
price"). This may be done by proof that the purchase
of the tied product was involuntary or a result of co-
ercion. Ungar, 531 F.2d at 1224.

*14 Implied by the elements of a tying claim is that
the arrangement involves two distinct products.
Kodak, 504 U.S. at 462 (determining that camera re-
pair service and the parts for camera repair were two
different products for the purposes of an alleged tying
arrangement). The essential characteristic of an illeg-
al tying agreement is that the seller uses the control it
has over the tying product to force buyers to purchase
an unwanted product, or a product they would prefer
to purchase elsewhere on different terms. Id. at 465;
see Ill. Tool Works Inc., 126 S.Ct. at 1286.

A firm enjoys "appreciable market power" when it
has the power to force a purchaser to do something it
would not do in a competitive market. Kodak, 504
U.S. at 464. Such power may be inferred from the
seller's possession of a predominant share of the mar-
ket. Id.

ii. Exclusive Dealing

Exclusive dealing agreements, like tying arrange-
ments, also may violate both Section 1 of the Sher-
man Act and Section 3 of the Clayton Act. Exclusive
dealing agreements require that a purchaser not deal
in the goods of a competitor of the seller. Town
Sound, 959 F.2d at 474 n. 2. An exclusive deal does
not have to contain a specific agreement not to use
the goods of a competitor to be considered exclusive.
Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320,
326 (1961). It is enough that the practical effect of an
agreement prevents the use of a competitor's product.
Id. An exclusive dealing agreement violates the anti-
trust laws when the competition it forecloses is a sub-
stantial share of the relevant market. Id. at 327; Barr
Labs., Inc., 978 F.2d at 110.

2. Application
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The Court determines that Qualcomm's alleged con-
duct does not amount to a tie or exclusive deal in vi-
olation of the Sherman and Clayton Acts. [FN5]
Counts 3 through 6, therefore, fail to state claims
upon which relief can be granted and they will be dis-
missed.

FN5. The Court, for the purposes of this
opinion, will assume that Broadcom has suf-
ficiently alleged that (1) Qualcomm has
market power in the tying product, the
WCDMA technology license, (2) there are
separate products, the license and the chip-
set, and the "arrangement" affects more than
insubstantial amount of interstate commerce.
Kodak, 504 U.S. at 462.
The Court also recognizes that the Clayton
Act is only applicable to exclusive deals or
tying arrangements that involve goods or
commodities. See 15 U.S.C. § 14. The Court
determines that there is no exclusive deal or
tie, therefore, the Court need not decide
whether a patent license is a commodity for
purposes of the Clayton Act. The Court ex-
presses no opinion as to the issue, but the
Court notes that other courts have limited
the definition of commodity to a tangible
good. See Ungar, 531 F.2d at 1215 n. 4
(noting that the district court determined that
a trademark and logo were not goods for the
purposes of the Clayton Act, but declining to
address that decision because the issue was
not before the Circuit); Tele Atlas N.V. v.
Navteq Corp., 397 F.Supp.2d 1184, 1193
(N.D.Cal.2005) (dismissing tying claims
brought pursuant to the Clayton Act because
a patent license is not the sale of a tangible
good); Satellite Assoc. v. Cont'l Cablevision
of Va., Inc., 586 F.Supp. 973, 975
(E.D.Va.1982) (determining that the Clayton
Act does not encompass the sale of services
because a commodity is some type of tan-
gible property); La Salle St. Press Inc. v.
McCormick & Henderson Inc., 293 F.Supp.
1004, 1006 (N.D.Ill.1968) ("the sale of a
patent license is the sale of [a] right or priv-
ilege ... [a]s such it does not fall within the

... family of tangible and movable chattels
which is covered by the term 'commodity' ").

The threshold requirement to state a tying or exclus-
ive dealing claim is the existence of a forced sale, or
an agreement not to use a competitor's goods that
forecloses a substantial share of commerce. Broad-
com does not allege that Qualcomm refuses to license
its WCDMA technology without the purchase of
Qualcomm UMTS chipsets. Rather, accepting the al-
legations stated in the amended complaint as true,
Qualcomm refuses to offer discounts or other market
incentives to potential licensees without the purchase
of Qualcomm chipsets. The Court recognizes that a
formal tying agreement is not necessary to state a
claim for unlawful tying. In the absence of such an
agreement, however, there must be indications of a
forced sale or coercion. See Ungar, 531 F.2d at 1224
(stating that in the absence of a formal agreement, a
plaintiff must show the purchase of two products
from a single seller was not voluntary, i .e., by proof
of coercion).

The requisite coercion here is lacking. Broadcom ar-
gues that Qualcomm's conduct (1) strongly discour-
ages chipset buyers from dealing with Qualcomm
competitors, (2) makes meaningful competition im-
possible, and (3) amounts to economic coercion. (Pl.
Br., at 29, 31.) Qualcomm, however, has not condi-
tioned the availability of licenses to its patents on the
purchase of UMTS chipsets. It has conditioned the
availability of discounts and incentives on the pur-
chase of UMTS chipsets. Licenses to Qualcomm's
patents and UMTS chipsets can be purchased separ-
ately. Potential patent licensees are free to purchase
chipsets from any manufacturer. See Jefferson Parish
Hosp. Dist. No. 2. v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 12 (1984)
("where the buyer is free to take either product by it-
self there is no tying problem even though the seller
may also offer the two items as a unit at a single
price" (internal quotes and cites omitted)).

*15 Qualcomm's decision to offer discounts to li-
censees who purchase Qualcomm chipsets may make
the purchase of Qualcomm chipsets a more econom-
ically viable option for those licensees. Such an in-
centive, however, does not amount to a forced sale.
See, e.g., Robert's Waikiki U-Drive, Inc., 732 F.3d at
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1407 (plaintiff challenging program whereby con-
sumers who flew on a particular airline received a
discounted rate on a rental car, and the court rejecting
the claim noting that it showed only the existence of
a lower price for two items bought as a package). The
freedom to choose to purchase chipsets from a Qual-
comm competitor, while perhaps "more prevalent in
theory than in operational reality, is enough to cir-
cumvent the tie-in prohibitions of the relevant anti-
trust laws." SmithKline Corp. v. Eli Lilly & Co., 428
F.Supp. 1089, 1114 (E.D.Pa.1976) (judgment aff'd by
SmithKline v. Eli Lilly & Co., 575 F.2d 1056 (3d
Cir.1978)). "We understand the argument that proof
of acceptance of a burdensome or uneconomic offer
of a secondary (tied) product is some evidence of co-
ercion." Ungar, 531 F.2d at 1225. Acceptance of
such an offer, however, is not sufficient to establish
the coercion element of an illegal tie-in claim. Id. "Es-
tablishing that buyers purchase products A and B
from the seller does not establish that the seller ties
the sale of product A to the purchase of product B. It
merely establishes that buyers purchase products A
and B from the seller." Id.

Similar to this action, the Third Circuit in SmithKline
considered whether a program adopted by Eli Lilly,
that provided hospitals with a rebate based on the
total amount of cephalosporin drugs the hospital pur-
chased from Eli Lilly, was an unlawful tie. SmithK-
line, 575 F.2d at 1061. SmithKline, one of Eli Lilly's
competitors, manufactured a cephalosporin similar to
the cephalosporins included in the rebate program. It
argued that Eli Lilly's rebate program was an illegal
tying scheme because to take advantage of the rebate,
hospitals were forced to buy all cephalosporins from
Eli Lilly. Affirming the district court's determination
that the rebate did not constitute an illegal tie, the
Third Circuit noted that Eli Lilly did not condition
the availability of its drugs on (1) the purchase of an-
other drug, or (2) a purchasing hospital's refusal to
deal with Eli Lilly's competitors. The court determ-
ined that in the absence of such requirements, "Lilly's
marketing scheme lacks the element of coercion ne-
cessary for liability under the theory of tie-ins." Id . at
1062; see also SmithKline Corp., 427 F.Supp. at 1113
("[t]he court can find the existence of an illegal tie-in
only if ... Lilly refused to sell Keflin and/or Keflex

separately"). Similarly, Qualcomm's practice of
providing discounted patent royalty rates to licensees
buying Qualcomm UMTS chipsets lacks the coercion
necessary to be considered an unlawful tie. Such a
practice may (1) "strongly discourage" the purchase
of nonQualcomm UMTS chipsets, and (2) make the
purchase of Qualcomm chipsets more economically
feasible, but such discouragement does not foreclose
the ability to obtain a WCDMA patent license from
Qualcomm without the purchase of a chipset.

*16 Qualcomm's alleged conduct also does not
amount to an unlawful exclusive dealing agreement.
The claim language itself parrots the definition of an
exclusive dealing agreement; "Qualcomm's agree-
ments with cell phone manufacturers-pursuant to
which such companies agree to purchase Qualcomm's
UMTS chipsets only, not to purchase competitors'
chipsets ...--unreasonably restrain competition and
foreclose a substantial share of the UMTS chipset
market." (Am. Compl., at 47, 49.) Considering the
factual allegations of the amended complaint as a
whole, however, the alleged exclusive deal is: Qual-
comm provides potential Qualcomm patent licensees
discounts, economic incentives, and other rewards if
they do not use chipsets from a Qualcomm competit-
or. (See id. at 6, 31-33, 36.) Broadcom indicates that
the effect of such practices is to "strongly discourage"
chipset buyers from dealing with Qualcomm's com-
petitors. (Id. at 36.)

Similar to the alleged tying arrangement, the alleged
exclusive deal does not require that patent licensees
only purchase Qualcomm chipsets. The "deal"
provides incentives for those patent licensees choos-
ing to purchase Qualcomm chipsets. The practical ef-
fect may be to make the purchase of Qualcomm chip-
sets more financially viable; however, it does not
foreclose the purchase of another company's chipset.
That the discounts offered by Qualcomm "substan-
tially raise competitors' costs of selling and marketing
UMTS chipsets" does not give rise to antitrust liabil-
ity. The antitrust laws are not intended to place com-
petitors on equal footing in the market; they are in-
tended to address conduct that forecloses competition
and unreasonably restrains trade. See Intergraph
Corp., 195 F.3d at 1360 ("the purpose of the antitrust
laws is to foster competition in the public interest, not
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to protect others from competition, in their private in-
terest").

The Court recognizes that an exclusive deal need not
be a formal agreement. Such an arrangement,
however, must foreclose a substantial portion of the
market. Even assuming Qualcomm's conduct would
amount to an exclusive deal, the pleadings are defi-
cient. Absent from the amended complaint are allega-
tions as to how a substantial portion of the market is
foreclosed. It generally asserts that Qualcomm com-
petitors or chipset buyers have been disadvantaged by
Qualcomm's "deal," but does not provide any details
as to the market, including (1) what other companies
manufacture and sell UMTS chipsets, (2) market
shares of the relevant sellers, and (3) how sales have
been affected or foreclosed by Qualcomm's "deal."
(See Am. Compl., at 36, 47.) The amended complaint
permits the inference that several companies manu-
facture UMTS chipsets. But without any further de-
tails, the Court is unable to conclude that the alleged
deal forecloses competition, and therefore, gives rise
to a cause of action under the antitrust laws.

The facts and claims alleged by Broadcom do not
state claims for unlawful tying or exclusive dealing.
Qualcomm's dual status as a patent-holder for
WCDMA technology, and manufacturer of UMTS
chipsets provide it with a business advantage. The
need for others to obtain licenses to Qualcomm's pat-
ents is a consequence of the standard-setting process.
The market accepts such consequences because of the
need for interoperability. Broadcom invites the Court
to extend claims for unlawful tying and exclusive
dealing to include coercion in the form of rebates,
discounts, and other incentives. The Court declines
this invitation. The Court recognizes the potential for
the provision of economic incentives and induce-
ments to draw antitrust scrutiny in another fact pat-
tern. The "coercion" as alleged here, however, does
not merit such an extension. Counts 3, 4, 5, and 6 of
the amended complaint, therefore, will be dismissed.

C. Flarion Acquisition--Count 8

*17 Count 8 of the amended complaint asserts that
Qualcomm's acquisition, holding, and use of Flarion
and its assets violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act.

(Am. Compl., at 52.) Broadcom requests that the
Court enjoin Qualcomm's acquisition of Flarion pur-
suant to Section 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §
26. (Id. at 58.) Qualcomm argues that this claim
should be dismissed because Broadcom does not
have standing to assert such a claim. (Def. Br., at 41.)
Broadcom argues that it has standing because it has
alleged that the acquisition threatens antitrust injury
to it, and the threat of injury is sufficient to bring a
claim pursuant to Section 16. (Pl. Br., at 40.)

1. Relevant Facts

Qualcomm announced its plan to acquire Flarion on
August 11, 2005. (Am. Compl., at 38.) Flarion is "a
pioneer and leading developer" of OFDM/OFDMA
technologies and a key holder of patents for this tech-
nology. (Id. at 8, 39.) OFDM/OFDMA technologies
are expected to be a foundation for the generation of
cell phone technology beyond 3G. (Id.) This emer-
gent generation is referred to as B3G and 4G. (Id. at
9.) "While the B3G standards are not yet fully de-
veloped, it is clear that Qualcomm-owned and Flari-
onowned technologies will be leading contenders for
adoption in the B3G mobile wireless systems and for
4G systems after that." (Id. at 17.) Products embody-
ing the B3G technologies "may not arrive in the mar-
ketplace for three or more years," but "the process of
adopting industry standards for these technologies is
well underway, with 4G technology standards expec-
ted to follow closely." (Id. at 39.)

Broadcom alleges that Qualcomm perceives Flarion
as a competitor in the B3G technology market. (Id.) It
alleges that Qualcomm's goal in acquiring Flarion is
to gain control over Flarion's portfolio of patents.
Flarion's patents are likely to compete with Qual-
comm's patents to become essential to B3G and 4G
standards. (Id. at 42.) Following the acquisition,
Qualcomm would have control over both leading
candidates for the B3G and 4G standards. Qualcomm
already controls the CDMA and WCDMA techno-
logy. With Flarion's patents, it would be ensured con-
trol of the OFDM/OFDMA technology patents. (Id.)

Broadcom asserts that it is a customer in the B3G and
4G technology markets, and it "may require a license
to intellectual property necessary to manufacture
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B3G and 4G equipment." (Id. at 44.) Broadcom also
"expects to be a competitor in the chipset markets for
B3G and 4G technologies." (Id.)

2. Legal Standard

Section 7 of the Clayton Act provides:
No person engaged in commerce or in any activity
affecting commerce shall acquire, directly or indir-
ectly, the whole or any part of the stock or other
share capital and no person subject to the jurisdic-
tion of the Federal Trade Commission shall acquire
the whole or any part of the assets of another per-
son engaged also in commerce or in any activity af-
fecting commerce, where in any line of commerce
or in any activity affecting commerce in any sec-
tion of the country, the effect of such acquisition
may be substantially to lessen competition, or to
tend to create a monopoly

*18 15 U.S.C § 18. To obtain relief, a private
plaintiff seeking an injunction pursuant to Section 16
of the Clayton Act to remedy a violation of Section 7
must show a threat of antitrust injury. Alberta Gas
Chems. Ltd. v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co., 826 F
.2d 1235, 1240 (3d Cir.1987). An antitrust injury is
injury (1) of the type the antitrust laws were designed
to prevent, and (2) that flows from that which makes
the defendant's acts unlawful. Id.; see Cargill Inc. v.
Monfort of Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 104, 113 (1986)
(noting that plaintiffs seeking injunctive relief pursu-
ant to Section 16 must allege threatened loss or dam-
ages of the type the antitrust laws were designed to
prevent); City of Pittsburgh, 147 F.3d at 264 ("when
seeking injunctive relief, the complainant need only
demonstrate a significant threat of injury from an im-
pending violation of the antitrust laws" (internal
quotes and cite omitted)). "The injury should reflect
the anticompetitive effect either of the violation or of
anticompetitive acts made possible by the violation."
Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-OMat, Inc., 429
U.S. 477, 489 (1977) (noting that antitrust injury
must be caused by the antitrust violation not merely
causally linked to an illegal presence in the market).

The threat of a loss of profits or damages due to in-
creased competition does not constitute an antitrust
injury. Cargill, 479 U.S. at 495. "The antitrust laws [
] were enacted for the protection of competition, not

competitors." Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 488 (internal
quotes and cites omitted). Damages or injuries that
are speculative and may never occur also do not per-
mit the award of injunctive relief. City of Pittsburgh,
147 F.3d at 269 (affirming district court's order dis-
missing complaint seeking to enjoin the proposed
merger of two utilities because the alleged threatened
antitrust injury was too speculative); see also Ideal
Dairy Farms Inc. v. John Labatt, Ltd., 90 F.3d 737,
750 (3d Cir.1996) (conclusory assertions of harm or
injury alone do not support a Clayton Act claim).
When a plaintiff fails to show a threat of antitrust in-
jury, the Court need not consider whether the pro-
posed merger violates Section 7. Cargill, 479 U.S. at
122. "Section 16 authorizes the prevention of the con-
sequences of an antitrust violation; it does not create
the violation." Intergraph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1360.

3. Application

Broadcom alleges that the proposed merger of Qual-
comm and Flarion will substantially lessen competi-
tion, and tend to create a monopoly in the markets for
B3G and 4G technology. (Am. Compl., at 52.) It as-
serts that the merger will reduce Broadcom's ability
to obtain B3G and 4G technology licenses on com-
petitive terms, and increase Qualcomm's market
power enabling it to "continue its unlawful conduct to
undermine or exclude competitors ... from the mar-
kets for B3G and 4G chipsets." (Id. at 44.)

The potential injuries Broadcom would endure as a
result of Qualcomm's acquisition of Flarion do not al-
lege sufficient antitrust injury to maintain Count 8 of
the amended complaint. Broadcom's alleged injuries,
such as those injuries alleged in City of Pittsburgh,
are too speculative. The injury may not occur, and if
it did, the degree would be difficult to measure.
Broadcom alleges that Qualcomm's previous acquisi-
tions and conduct in the 2G and 3G technology, and
chipset markets have substantially lessened competi-
tion in those markets, therefore, the Flarion acquisi-
tion will have the same result in the B3G and 4G
markets. (See Am. Compl., at 52.) Looking to acquire
new technology is accepted competitive behavior.
Qualcomm's acquisition of Flarion will provide it
with increased potential and resources to compete in
an emerging market. The experience in the 2G and
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3G markets provide historical context to the Flarion
acquisition, however, it does not make Broadcom's
threatened injury in the B3G and 4G markets more
imminent or concrete. Despite the similarities, the
Flarion acquisition by Broadcom's own assertion,
deals with different markets. (Id. at 20.) Cf. Inter-
graph Corp., 195 F.3d at 1360 (discussing whether
plaintiff violated the Sherman Act and noting that
"[t]he specter of [the defendant's] resources and talent
is not evidence of future Sherman Act violation").

*19 Products embodying the B3G and 4G technology
are not yet on the market, and may not arrive in the
marketplace for three more years. (Am. Compl., at
39.) See City of Pittsburgh, 147 F.3d at 268 (finding
that the plaintiff's alleged antitrust injury was specu-
lative because it was difficult to measure, and pos-
sible that the claimed injury would not occur). No in-
dustry standard for either generation has been adop-
ted. Flarion's technology, according to Broadcom, is
considered the front-runner for the new technology
standard, but competing technology does exist.
Broadcom "may require" a B3G or 4G technology li-
cense, and "expects to be a competitor" in the chipset
markets for those technologies. (Am. Compl., at 44.)
For Broadcom to be injured, therefore, several events
would have to take place. Broadcom would be in-
jured if (1) a B3G or 4G technology standard is adop-
ted, (2) the B3G or 4G standard that is adopted incor-
porates patented technology, (3) the patented techno-
logy incorporated into the standard is owned by Flari-
on, (4) Flarion owned the technology incorporated in-
to the standard before it was acquired by Qualcomm,
(5) Broadcom seeks to manufacture chipsets based on
B3G or 4G technology, (6) Broadcom needs a license
to Qualcomm's patents, and (7) Qualcomm does not
license the patents "on competitive terms." (See id.)
Considering all these "ifs" together, the Court de-
termines that the threat of antitrust injury posed by
the Flarion acquisition is too remote to maintain
Count 8 of the amended complaint. [FN6]

FN6. The Court dismisses this claim based
on the determination that Broadcom does
not allege an antitrust injury sufficient to
state a Section 7 claim, not based on a de-
termination that Broadcom does not have
standing. Qualcomm, in its brief, argues

Broadcom does not have standing to assert a
Section 7 claim because it has not alleged an
antitrust injury. (Def. Br., at 41.) The Court
recognizes that "the questions of antitrust in-
jury and antitrust standing are difficult to
disentangle." City of Pittsburgh, 147 F.3d at
265 n. 15. "However in the sense that
plaintiffs who sustain no antitrust injury may
not recover, they may be loosely said to lack
standing." Alberta, 826 F.2d at 1240. The
Court, here, determines that Broadcom has
not alleged sufficient antitrust injury. The
Court, therefore, makes no determination as
to Broadcom's standing. See Verizon, 540
U.S. at 416 n. 5 (dismissing the complaint
because the defendant's conduct was not an-
ticompetitive for purposes of the Sherman
Act, and noting "[o]ur disposition makes it
unnecessary to consider petitioner's alternat-
ive contention that respondent lacks antitrust
standing"); Alberta, 826 F.2d at 1240
(noting that once antitrust injury is demon-
strated, standing analysis is employed).

D. The Remaining State Law and Common Law
Claims

The Court has jurisdiction over Broadcom's state law
and common law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1367(a) which provides: "the district courts shall
have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims
that are so related to claims in the action within such
original jurisdiction that they form part of the same
case or controversy." 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). A district
court, however, may decline to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction over such claims when it "has dismissed
all claims over which it has original jurisdiction." 28
U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3); see Figueroa v. Buccaneer
Hotel, Inc., 188 F.3d 172, 181 (3d Cir.1999)
(affirming dismissal of remaining claims based on
Section 1367(c)(3) because federal claim had been
dismissed).

The Court has disposed of the federal antitrust claims
that provide the Court with subject matter jurisdic-
tion. The Court declines to exercise supplemental jur-
isdiction over the remaining state and common law
claims. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3). The state and com-
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mon law claims, therefore, will be dismissed without
prejudice, and the statute of limitations for plaintiff to
bring such claims in state court will be tolled for
thirty days after the date of this dismissal. 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367(d).

CONCLUSION
The Court, for the reasons stated supra, will grant the
defendant's motion to dismiss the amended com-
plaint. An appropriate order and judgment will be is-
sued.
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